QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

I. WHETHER SECTION 784.084 (2) OF THE: FLORIDA STATUTES 

VIOLATES DUE PROCESS BECAUSE IT FAILS TO PLACE CITIZENS ON NOTICE 

OF PROSCRIBED CONDUCT AND IT FAILS TO PROVIDE MINIMAL GUIDELINES 

FOR ENFORCEMENT. 

11. WHETHER SECTION 784.048 (2) VIOLATES FREEDOM OF 

EXPRESSION BECAUSE IT FAILS TO DISTINGUISH BETWEEN PROTF,CIED AND 

UNPROTECTED CONDUCT OR SPEECH. 
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Petitioner, Robert K. Kahles, was charged with one count of 

misdemeanor stalking in violation of section 784.048(2) of the 

Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992) .I (R 38). The information charged 

that Petitioner willfully, maliciously, and repeatedly followed 

or harassed Michelle Grist. (R 38). Prior to trial he filed a 

Unconstitutional.2 (R 50-64). The trial court granted the 

motion, finding that the misdemeanor stalking statute is on its 

face both unconstitutionally vague and overbroad. (R 69-74). 

Specifically, the trial court concluded that the misdemeanor 

stalking statute violates both due process of law and the freedom 

of expression. 

The state timely appealed to the Fourth District Court of 

Appeal the trial court's order. The district court reversed the 
trial court's ruling in SLalte v. Kah les, 644 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 4th 
DCA 1994), relying upon the opinions in pallas v. State , 636 So. 

2d 1358 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994) and Bouters v. State , 634 So. 2d 246 

Section 784.048(2) of the Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992) 
provides as follows: 

Any person who willfully, maliciously, and 
repeatedly follows or harasses another person commits 
the offense of stalking, a misdemeanor of the first 
degree, punishable as provided in § 775.082 or § 
775.083. 

Specifically, Defendant challenged section 784.048(2) of 
the Florida Statues. Inherent in the challenge were subsection 
(1) (a) (the definition of llharasses") and subsection (1) (b) (the 
definition of Ifcourse of conduct'l). 
is section 784.048(5), which permits a police officer to arrest 
without a warrant any person the officer believes violated 
section 784.048 (2) . 

The other provision at issue 

1 



(Fla. 5th DCA), rev. granted , 640 So. 2d 1106 (Fla. 1994). The 

decisions in both Pallas and Routers adjudicated only the felony 
provisions of Florida's Stalking Statute; neither addressed the 

constitutionality of the misdemeanor stalking statute.3 

Because the misdemeanor stalking statute differs 

substantially from the felony statute addressed in Pallas and 

BOUt;eTs, Petitioner timely filed a Motion for Rehearing and/or 

Certification. 

Rehearing, but granted in part Petitioner's Motion for 

Certification, certifying as issues of great public importance 

The district court denied the Motion for 

the questions presented in this brief. Thereafter, Petitioner 

timely filed his Notice of Discretionary Review. 

1994, this Court entered an order postponing its decision on 

jurisdiction and setting a briefing schedule. 

on the merits follows. 

On November 28, 

Petitioner's brief 

: 
The Florida Legislature created a new offense when it 

enacted the misdemeanor stalking statute. Wen legislatures 

create new crimes, they must take particular care to ensure that 

the statute satisfies the requirements of due process. Florida's 

misdemeanor stalking statute fails to place citizens on notice of 

the proscribed conduct because it does not provide a sufficiently 

No district court has considered the constitutionality of 
Floridals misdemeanor stalking statute independently of the 
felony statute. 
(Fla. 2d DCA Dec. 21, 1994), the court followed the decision in 
Kahles, finding the misdemeanor statute constitutional based on 
the reasons set forth in Pallas and Foutem. 

Recently in Huff] 'ne v. State , 1994 WL 706166 

2 



positive definition of 

define the elements of 

of any specific intent 

behavior it has failed 

possess any prohibited 

what constitutes stalking. 

the offense is compounded by the absence 

requirement. The statute criminalizes 

to define without requiring a defendant to 

intent or purpose. Assuming a r p e m b  that 

Its failure to 

"willful, llmalicious, and llrepeated" constitute a general Itbad'' 

or llevil'l intent, that generalized notion of criminality cannot 

withstand constitutional scrutiny. 

provisions differ fundamentally from the felony provisions, the 
Fourth District Court's reliance on Foute rs and P a l l a s  is flawed. 

Neither of those decisions adjudicated the constitutionality of 

Florida's misdemeanor stalking statute. 

Because the misdemeanor 

The statute's failure to provide notice of the prohibited 

conduct combined with its express authorization permitting police 

officers to make warrantless arrests unquestionably violates due 

process. Officers need not witness the alleged criminal conduct 

before they can arrest a defendant for engaging in misdemeanor 

stalking. 

the statute does nothing to limit police officers' discretion, 

decisions to make arrests inevitably will be based upon 

subjective determinations, undoubtedly resulting in arbitrary and 

discriminatory enforcement. 

Because stalking is a highly contextualized crime and 

The statute is also unconstitutionally overbroad. Without 
question, the statute implicates fundamental rights guaranteed to 

a11 citizens: 

and the freedom of expression. 

specifically, the right to move about in public 

Petitioner recognizes that the 

3 



legislature can regulate citizens’ rights to expression, 

movement, and association under certain circumstances, but the 

First Amendment requires that any such legislation be as narrowly 

tailored as possible. Decisions and media reports already reveal 

that, regardless of what the legislature intended, stalking laws 

are being routinely applied to abrtion protests. 

conflict between this legislation and the rights of citizens to 

express themselves, the broadly worded provisions of Florida’s 

Stalking Statute cannot withstand constitutional scrutiny. 

Given the 

I. THE FLORIDA 1;IEGISLATURE CREATED A NEW OFFENSE 
WHEN IT ENACTED ‘SHE M I S D E ” O R  STALKING STATUTE 

Legislators began taking seriously the behavior of stalking 

in large part because of the continuous onslaught of reports 

concerning women whom, before they were murdered by a husband or 

boyfriend, police and prosecutors told nothing could be done 

until they were injured or dead.* 

leave abusive partners often face the greatest danger of 

vi01ence.~ 

domestic relationships that often leads to murder or injury, but 

where the actual behavior, described as “stalking,” falls short 

Women who leave or atterrrpt to 

The statutes were intended to address violence in 

Melinda Beckwith, et al., Pliirde roi IS Obsess] on , Newsweek, 
lso Tamar Lewin, New Laws Address 0 Id July 13, 1992; see a 

1993, Al, col. 5. 
e Terraof A Stalker’s Threats, NY T h s ,  Feb. 8, 

See! , e * , ~ . ,  Martha R. Mahoney, Legal Tmaes of Battered 
fn1rl9 t heIssiie o f Separation , 90 Mi&. L. R e v .  1 

(1991) ; Angela Browne, When Battered Wcanen Kill 110 (1987) 
(estimating that as many as 50% of abused women are followed, 
harassed, threatened, and attacked after leaving abuser). 
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of traditional definitions of assault or battery.6 Too, the 

statutes evolved out of the recognition that restraining orders 

often do not succeed in thwarting an escalating pattern of 

violence.' 

1990;8 since then almost every other state has enacted similar 

legi~lation.~ 

California enacted the first stalking statute in 

Florida enacted its Stalking Statute in 1992. Modeled after 

the California law, it essentially defines stalking as following 

or harassing another person. 

however, because of the distinction it draws between misdemeanor 

and felony stalking. 

statutes, requiring that the prohibited acts be accompanied by a 

"credible threat with the intent to place [the target] in 

reasonable fear of death or bodily injury." 

Stat. (Supp. 1992). 

hand, includes no intent requirement; thus any person who 

"willfully, maliciously, and repeatedly follows or harasses 

Florida's statute is unique, 

The felony statute mirrors many other state 

§ 784.048 (3), Fla. 

The misdemeanor provision, on the other 

nd &+.-e+, Robert A. Guy, Jr. (Coment) , The Natum a 
r]onstitiiti o na1 i tv of  Stalking Tla ws, 46 Vand. L. Rev. 991, 1000 
(1993). This is-true of Florida's law also. See Rep. Carol 
Hanson, Letter to the Editor, Sun-Sentinel, June 23, 1994, at 
14A. 

see-1 638 So. 2d 79 (Fla. 3d DCA 
1993). 

. Pemal Code § 649.9 (West 1990). 8 cal 

Since 1990, at least forty-three states have enacted 
similar laws. 

Jaws and Proposed M0dp.1 Legi slat1 on , 31 Ham. J. on Legis. 1 
(1994) . 

See Robert P. Faulkner and Douglas P. Hsiao, - A d  
1 Y o u m l F a l l o w : t y  1 of S t a 1 U  

5 



another person" commits the offense of misdemeanor stalking. § 

784.048 (2)  , (Supp. 1992) .  

Acts of stalking may include following, placing under 

surveillance, or trailing a victim; loitering outside her home or 

work place; peeping through windows; persistent phoning 

(including anonymous and obscene calls); showering the victim 

with extravagant gifts; tearful pleas for reconciliation; writing 

notes and letters ranging from declarations of love to threats 

against her life; physical attacks and threats against the 

victim, her family, friends, or pets; threats or attempts of 

suicide; vandalism; murder and attempted murder.l0 Although 

these acts generally occur within the context of a domestic 

relationship, they can also involve llerotomanicsll who may have no 

preexisting relationship with the victim.ll 

the behavior is targeted toward celebrities or high profile 

Less frequently, 

figures . l2 
The variety of acts which may or may not constitute stalking 

combined with the differing types of relationships that  exist 

h ina lo See, e.9. , Thomas R. Haggard, The $out Carol 
S a ~ n g  s ta  u e .  
(Mar./Apr. 1994); K. Thomas, &ti - Stalk ins Statutes : 

(September 26, 1 9 9 2 ) .  

Bad Drafting, 5 Apr. S.C. Law. 13 
Backsround 

titutional Analvd ,  2 CRS R e p o r t  for C-ess 

S.ec Susan Cullen Anderson, ,Anti -Stalkjns La WP: Will 
ey O r b  t he Rrotomanl ssive Plirsu it?, 17 Law & Psychol. ' C I S  Obse 

RW. 171 (1993). 

Some estimate that only 5% of stalking cases involve 
public figures, although those cases receive greater publicity. 
Moreover, perpetrators who stalk celebrities or other famous 
people are generally deemed less dangerous than are those who 
stalk intimate partners. 

l2 
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between alleged perpetrators and victims reveals only one 

concrete conclusion: 

contextualized crime. 

draft legislation that covers precisely every conceivable type of 

stalking, the Florida Legislature created a broadly worded, 

fatally vague statute. 

inclusive and under-inclusive. 

stalking is a quintessentially 

And although it would be impossible to 

The statute is at once both over- 

It is over-inclusive because it 

fails completely to provide a discernible standard of conduct by 

which citizens can measure their own conduct and steer clear of 

violating the law. 

emphasis on IlbadlI acts may allow perpetrators claiming that love 

The statute is under-inclusive because its 

reach.13 In attempting to articulate what it considered to 

constitute "stalking," the legislature included none of the acts 

described abve; instead it enacted a statute that is 

unconstitutionally vague in a11 its applications. 

11. THE MISDEMEANOR STALKING STATUTE IS 
FACIALLY "CONSTITUTIONAL BECA'USE IT IS mERMISSIBLY 

VAGUE IN ALL ITS APPLICATIONS 

A. 
Created Offense of Stalking 

The Statute Fails to Sufficiently Define the Newly 

The Due Process Clauses of the United States and Florida 

Constitutions require a statute to (1) provide adequate notice to 

the public as to what conduct is proscribed, and (2) to set clear 

standards to limit law enforcement's discretion in effecting 

arrests to avoid arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement of the 

l3 See Ham. J. on Legis., supra note 9, at 56-57. 
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law. Grayned v. C l t V  of Rockf nrd , 408 U.S .  104, 108-109 (1972); 

J, invil le v. State, 359 So. 2d 450, 451-52 (Fla. 1978). A law 
containing vague prohibitions which fail to meet either of these 
requirements violates due process. In , 629 So. 2d 

841 (Fla. 1994), this Court recently struck down as facially 

vague and unconstitutional a statute because it failed to give a 

person of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what conduct was 

forbidden. Because section 893.13(1)(i) of the Florida Statutes 

criminalized the sale of narcotics within 200 feet of a Ilpublic 

housing facilitytt without defining that term, this Court 

concluded that the statute was impermissibly vague in all its 

applications. JJL at 843. 

Petitioner has standing to launch a facial challenge against 

this statute because the statute supplies no ascertainable 

standards by which to determine what conduct is included and what 

conduct is excluded from its proscription. -atit 

402 U.S. 611, 614 (1971) . As this Court's decision in Euxa 
illustrates, and the Supreme Court has made clear, legislatures 

must exercise particular care when they create a new offense: 

That the terms of a penal statute creating a rn 
offense must be sufficiently explicit to inform those 
who are subject to it what conduct on their part will 
render them liable to its penalties, is a well- 
recognized reguirement, consonant alike with ordinary 
notions of fair play and the settled rules of law. And 
a statute which either forbids or requires the doing of 
an act in terms so vague that [people] of comon 
intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and 
differ as to its application, violates the first 
essential due process of law. 

Cornally v. Ge neral Co nstr .  co. , 269 U . S .  385, 3 9 1  (1926 
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(emphasis added). Moreover, "important elements cannot be left 

to conjecture, or be supplied by either the court or the juryf1; 

rather they must be clearly defined within the statute. LsL at 

392. 

provision of the stalking statute is Ilpoorly drafted.Il 

Rossie, 1 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 465 (Fla. 18th Cir. 1994). With 

respect to the misdemeanor provision, however, the statute is 

At least one court has candidly admitted that the felony 

more than poorly drafted: it is unconstitutionally vague. 

1 .  The Statute Conta,, Requirement LQ ins No Sneci fi c Tntent 
Alleviate Co ncerns of V acrclenpss 

In creating the offense of misdemeanor stalking, the 

I .  

legislature employed the words Ilwillful, l1 l?nalicious, and 

llrepeated,Il but expressed no prohibited intent. See State V. 

QLlxi.~, 642 A.2d 90, 93 n.4 (Corn. Super. Ct. 1993) 

(distinguishing Connecticut statute from Florida's misdemeanor 

stalking statute explicitly recognizing that Florida law contains 

no specific intent requirement) . 
342 U.S .  246, 262 (1952), the Supreme Court observed that where a 

In Morj sette v. U u t d  States, 

crime well defined at comon law has historically contained a 

specific intent requirement, courts should construe the statute 

as containing an "inherentll intent requirement regardless of 

whether Congress expressed it within the statutory language. 

also Jli nehan v. State , 476 So. 2d 1262 (Fla. 1985). But "quite 
contrary inferencest1 are warranted where the legislature 

expresses no intent requirement in "creating an offense LEU to 

general law, for whose definition the courts have no guidance 

except the Act." Mprisette , 342 U.S. at 262 (emphasis added). 

S i x  
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I 

Because the misdemeanor stalking statute creates a new offense 

for which there is no counter-part at comon law, a specific 

intent requirement cannot be read into the statute. See. id. 

In Wche v. State , 619 So. 2d 231 (Fla. 1993), this Court 
struck down as facially vague and overbroad a municipal ordinance 

prohibiting loitering for the purposes of prostitution. 

Although the ordinance at issue prohibited loitering "in a manner 

and under circumstances manifesting the ~ ~ L Q Q S Z  of engaging in 

acts of prostitution,I1 this C o u r t  observed that the ordinance did 

not "require proof of unlawful intent as an element of the 

offense." JLL at 235 (errphasis added). This Court specifically 
declined to follow other state courts in construing similar 

statutes to include a specific intent requirement. &L at 236. 

Nonetheless, the legislature clearly intended QQL to include 

in the misdemeanor stalking statute a specific intent 

requirement. 

felony provision defeats any assertion that the legislature meant 

to include such a requirement in the misdemeanor provision. 

Moreover, most stalking statutes' misdemeanor provisions contain 

express intent requirements .14 

that the Florida Legislature was aware of its choice to include 

within the misdemeanor provision a specific intent requirement 

when it enacted the statute. 

The legislature's inclusion of intent within the 

Therefore, it must be concluded 

1 .  nal od § 649.9(a) (West 1990) - Conn, l4 See., 
§ 55-18:; ( W e z t  &pp. 1993); Tern. Co& § 

39-17.315 (1992) ; Va. Code ALXL § 18.2-60.3 (A) (Michie Supp. 
1993). 

10 



Assuming, as the state argued below, that "willfully" 

constitutes a specific intent requirement amounting to a llbadlr or 

"evil" purpose, the vagueness of the statutory elements remain 

fatal to statute. An intent requirement broader than "bad 

purpose" is difficult to imagine. 

follow or harass another with a "bad" or Ilevil" purpose does 

nothing to narrow the statute because neither the statute nor any 

possible construction indicate what type of llbadl' or ''eviltr 

purpose must be intended. 

requirement focus upon what the defendant intends toward the 

victim; for example, to place her in fear for her safety.I5 

under the Florida statute, if a defendant merely intends to 

"follow11 another person, that defendant can be arrested. 

Florida's statute renders completely imterial as to what, if 

any, irrpact the defendant intends for  the behavior to have upon 

the victim; it also renders imterial the defendant's intent. 

Criminalizing the intent to 

Other state statutes' intent 

But 

Consequently, the state cannot argue that the perpetrator's 

intent rather than the prohibited acts triggers the statute. 

Only where a statute clearly conveys what conduct or intent is 

criminal will an intent requirement alleviate concerns of 

vagueness. 

(finding unconstitutionally vague a statute that prohibited the 

intentional inhaling or possession of chemical substances due to 

failure to sufficiently define elements of offense). For 

example, in Woo l fa lk  v. Ccxmmwea l th ,  447 S.E.2d 530, 536 (Ga. 

See mville v. StaLe , 359 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 1979) 

l5 Set Cal. m a 1  co de § 649.9 (West 1990). 
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1994) , the Georgia Supreme Court found constitutional Georgia's 
stalking statute, reasoning that the statute's requirement that 

the defendant possess a specific intent in conjunction with more 

than one overt act provides sufficient notice to satisfy due 

process. 

language. 

Florida's misdemeanor statute contains no such 

Moreover, as the trial court observed, people engaging in 

stalking behavior often claim that their love and affection for 

the victim motivates their actions. (R 28-29). Accordingly, even 

if a bad purpose were to suffice as a specific intent 

requirement, the statute would not reach the majority of stalking 

cases involving domestic partners. 

undoubtedly enacted the statute in response to the alarming 

rider of stalking cases connected with domestic violence, such 

an interpretation of the statute would leave unaddressed the most 

dangerous cases. 

Although the legislature 

Stalking almost always involves a quest for control or 

domination by the stalker over the victim.16 

dynamics of power and control within the context of these 

relationships, the statute fails to take into account that many 

who engage in stalking behavior do not view their motive as bad; 

rather they see it as an attempt to save a relationship or to 

rrwinll the affections of another. For example, in 

By ignoring the 

, 90 Mi&. L. Rev. 1, sugm note 5 16 See q , = = a l 1  v 
(explaining 'iseparat;on assaultll) ; Woolfolk, 447 S.E .2d  at 531 
(defendant's conduct escalated when estranged wife began dating 
another man). 

12 



C, 1994 WL 568300 (Oh. Ct. App. Oct. 13, 

1994), a jury acquitted a man of stalking his ex-girlfriend 

because he claimed that his intention was to ''win back her love.11 

Had the legislature defined the prohibited intent in terms 

of domination and control, the statute would be subject to a much 

more narrow application, rendering it constitutionally sound. 

Moreover, such an intent requirement would have addressed the 

under-inclusiveness that becomes problematic where defendants 

credibly claim that their acts were motivated by lllove.ll 

llPossessivenessll or jealousy, I1 often asserted as defenses or 

excuses for a perpetrator's actions, would no longer suffice; 

rather, they would be probative of the defendant's intent to 

dominate or control the victim. 

that this intent requirement be couched in terms of "intent to 

coerce,lI meaning an "intent to force another person to engage in 

conduct from which he or she has a legal right to abstain, or to

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