#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 84,748

ROBERT K. KAHLES,

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 20 1995

GLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

#### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND

Assistant Attorney General VFlorida Bar No. 0239437
Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921 Post Office Box 013241
Miami, Florida 33101
(305) 377-5441
Fax No. (305) 377-5655

PARKER D. THOMSON Special Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 081225

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Section 784.048 in its entirety, Florida's Stalking Statute (the "Statute"), and Section 784.048(2) thereof, specifically, are constitutional. This statute is constitutional, and totally complies with the First or Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution. It is neither overbroad nor vague.

The Statute proscribes stalking and harassing generally. Stalking and harassing are forms of conduct, regardless of whether the conduct may, in part, be evidenced through speech. As such, the proscribed conduct in the Statute is not susceptible to a First Amendment overbreadth challenge. Operation Rescue v. Women's Health Center, 626 So. 2d 664 (Fla. 1993), aff'd in part and rev'd in part, sub nom; Madsen v. Women's Health Ctr., 512 U.S. \_\_\_, 114 S.Ct. 2516, 129 L.Ed.2d 593 (1994); State v. Stalder, 630 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 1994); Wisconsin v. Mitchell, 508 U.S. \_\_\_, 113 S.Ct. 2194, 124 L.Ed.2d 436 (1993). Furthermore, the Statute, judged in relation to legitimate sweep, is not overbroad. Pallas v. State, 636 So. 2d 1358 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994).

Furthermore the Statute is not subject to a vagueness challenge. No portion of the Statute is "vague" to the degree required to violate the First or Fourteenth Amendments. Rather, the statutory provisions provide explicit guidelines for determining which conduct is proscribed.

In all, Petitioner's arguments have all been considered and disposed of by the decisions of the Fourth District in <u>Kahles</u> the Third District in <u>Pallas</u>. The Stalking Statute is facially constitutional.

#### ARGUMENT

SECTION 784.048, FLA. STAT. (1992) IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY OVERBROAD AND/OR VAGUE.

#### INTRODUCTION

This case addresses the strict issue of whether Section 784.048(2) of the Florida Statutes is constitutional as it applies to the actions of Petitioner. Petitioner has also made a broad facial challenge to Section 784.048, Fla. Stat. (1992) in its entirety. The Petitioner's challenge to the Statute is based on asserted overbreadth and vagueness.

Petitioner was charged with violating Section 784.048(2) of the Statute, simple stalking. Since there is no First Amendment protection for malicious conduct, Petitioner's overbreadth challenge must be rejected out of hand. His vagueness claim can only relate to that portion of the Statute that affects him. Parker v. Levy, 47 U.S. 733, 757, 94 S. Ct. 2547, 41 L.Ed.2d 439 (1974).

Nevertheless, the State will address additional aspects of the Statute beyond Section 784.048(2) should this Court, in the interest of judicial economy, wish to review the entire Statute in one case. Sections (2), (3) and (4) of the Statute prohibit the same conduct, to wit: willfully, maliciously and repeatedly following or harassing another person. Section (2) is a misdemeanor of the first degree since that Section only prohibits the willful, malicious and repeated following or harassing of another.

Section (3) of the Statute elevates such conduct to the third degree felony of aggravated stalking when the willful, malicious and repeated following or harassing conduct is accompanied by a credible threat with the intent to place that person in reasonable fear of death or bodily injury. The credible threat placing a person in "reasonable fear" parallels the "well founded fear in other persons" element in the crimes of assault, aggravated assault and robbery. See §§784.011, 784.021 and 812.13 Fla. Stat. (1991).

Section (4) likewise elevates willful, malicious and repeated following or harassing to the third degree felony of aggravated stalking when the following or harassing conduct is in knowing violation of a previous court order prohibiting such conduct.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Statute's opponent must establish that the Statute is invalid beyond, and to the exclusion of, every reasonable doubt.

See Bunnel v. State, 453 So. 2d 508 (Fla. 1984); State v.

Kinner, 398 So. 2d 1360 (Fla. 1981). See also New York State Club
Assn., Inc. v. City of New York, 487 U.S. 1, 108 S.Ct. 2225, 101
L.Ed.2d 1 (1988). (Burden of showing statute to be unconstitutional is on the one challenging it, not the one defending it).

In State v. Kahles, 644 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), the Court reiterated the proper analytical framework, as established in Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc., 455 U.S. 489, 494, 102 S.Ct. 1186, 71 L.Ed. 362 (1982) to be utilized when a criminal statute is alleged to be facially unconstitutional for overbreadth and vagueness. This proper analytic framework is for the court to first determine whether the enactment reaches a substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct. If not, the overbreadth challenge must fail. Secondly, the court should examine the vagueness challenge and, if there is no constitutionally protected conduct, should uphold the challenge only if the enactment is impermissibly vague in all of its applications. <sup>2</sup> Kahles, supra.

In a facial challenge to the overbreadth and vagueness of a law, a court's first task is to determine whether the enactment reaches a substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct. If it does not, then the overbreadth challenge must The court should then examine the facial vagueness challenge and, assuming the enactment implicates constitutionally protected conduct, should uphold the challenge only if the enactment is impermissibly vague in all of its applications. A plaintiff who engages in some conduct that isclearly proscribed cannot complain of the vagueness of the law as applied to the conduct of others. A court should therefore examine the complainant's conduct before analyzing other hypothetical applications of the law. Kahles, 644 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) (footnotes omitted).

#### THE STATUTE IS NOT OVERBROAD

Overbreadth is a doctrine limited to statutes involving restrictions on First Amendment rights. If a statute does not contravene the First Amendment, then an overbreadth challenge fails. In a facial challenge to the overbreadth of a law, the Court's first task is to determine whether the enactment reaches a substantial amount of constitutionally protected speech. If it does not, then the overbreadth challenge must fail. State v. Kahles, supra; Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside Hoffman Estates, supra.

This case involves stalking by harassment. This Court held that it is constitutionally permissible to regulate the "violent or harassing nature of Operation Rescue's expressive activity."

Operation Rescue v. Women's Health Center, 626 So. 2d 664, 671 (Fla. 1993), aff'd in part and rev'd in part, sub nom Madsen v. Women's Health Ctr., 512 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 114 S.Ct. 2516, 129 L.Ed.2d 593 (1994). Additionally, the United States Supreme Court upheld this Court's holding which restricted picketing around the clinic against a First Amendment challenge when it "threatens" the psychological and physical well-being of the victim. Id. The

United States Supreme Court specifically held that, "[c]learly, threats to patients or their families, however communicated, are proscribable under the First Amendment." 129 L.Ed.2d at 612. (emphasis added). Threats, therefore, are not protected speech under the First Amendment. Likewise, a violation of the domestic violence injunction is not protected speech.

The Statute generally deals with stalking and harassing. Stalking, in the normal sense of the word, is pure conduct. Harassing may well include a speech component. This is irrelevant here where we are dealing with a threat of death. But harassing in general is conduct which may, in part, be articulated by speech. This speech survives any overbreadth challenge, nevertheless, as the Statute regulates only words used as a method to harass which, of itself, is conduct, even when mixed with speech.

Pallas v. State, 636 So. 2d 1358 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), clearly articulated the correct rule. The Third District there upheld the constitutionality of the Statute against both an overbreadth and a vagueness challenge. The Third District rejected the overbreadth challenge to the Statute, even where the method by which the defendant harassed the victim was in a series of harassing telephone calls made by defendant. The Court held that the Statute survives an overbreadth challenge since the Statute does not proscribe conduct unless: 1) the conduct is willful,

malicious, and repeated; 2) there must be a course of conduct which would cause substantial emotional distress to a reasonable person in the position of the victim; and 3) the conduct must serve no legitimate purpose. <u>Id.</u> at 1363. For aggravated stalking, there must also be a credible threat made with the intent to place the victim in reasonable fear of death or bodily injury, or, as in this case, the violation of a domestic violence injunction.

That this conduct may be effected in part through speech does not invalidate the Statute on freedom of speech grounds where the use of words as the method with which to harass conduct mixed with speech. The controlling involves constitutional considerations differ substantially from those applied to pure speech. Pallas, 636 So. 2d 1363 (citing the decision of this Court in State v. Elders, 382 So. 2d 687, 690 (Fla. 1980)). The applicable test that applies when conduct and not merely speech is involved is that the overbreadth must not only be real, but substantial as well, judged in relation to the statute's legitimate sweep. The Third District in Pallas Id. concluded that the overbreadth challenge was not real and substantial judged in relation to the Statute's legitimate sweep. The State submits that the Pallas court correctly dealt with an overbreadth challenge to the Statute.

In a related line of cases, this Court upheld Section 785.085(1), Florida Statutes (1989), commonly referred to as Florida's Hate Crimes Statute. In so doing this Court followed the United States Supreme Court's holding as to the Wisconsin Hate Crimes Statute in Wisconsin v. Mitchell, 508 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 113 S.Ct. 2194, 124 L.Ed.2d 436 (1993). This Court held the Florida Hate Crimes Statute does not violate the First Amendment because the statute punishes bias-motivated criminal conduct rather than the expression of ideas. State v. Stalder, 630 So. 2d 1072, 1075 (Fla. 1994). This Court held that the Hate Crimes Statute punishes the conduct that evidences the prejudice, even when speech is a primary component of the conduct. The Stalder analysis, a fortiorari, applies to the Statute since hate crimes almost invariably involve a speech component, while often stalking through harassing has no such speech component.

In summary, the Statute is not overbroad. Stalking, whether by word or deed, done with the requisite specific intent to cause harm or threat to the victim is not protected by the First Amendment. The Stalking Statute regulates the conduct that causes threat or harm, not the content of a message that may accompany it. Lastly, the Statute by its terms ("course of conduct") excludes constitutionally protected activity. This type of exclusion has saved statutes from overbreadth challenges.

See, e.g., Arnett v. Kennedy, 416 U.S. 134, 162, 94 S.Ct. 1633, 40 L.Ed.2d 15 (1974). In this case, the exclusion is unnecessary to protect against the overbreadth challenge.

#### THE STATUTE IS NOT VAGUE

Petitioner's vagueness claim can only relate to that portion of the Statute that affects him. Parker v. Levy, 47 U.S. at 757. But in any case, no portion of this Statute is "vague" in the sense of violating the First or Fourteenth Amendments. In order to succeed on a vagueness challenge, Petitioner must demonstrate that the law is impermissibly vague in all of its applications. Village of Hoffman Estates, supra. However, perfection of language is rule, rather not the whether it violates constitutional mandates. Kahles, supra; Pallas, supra; Stalder, supra.

Petitioner challenges a number of terms of the Statute as "vague". These terms will be addressed in turn.

#### Knowingly

"Knowingly," in criminal law, means actual consciousness, or actually having knowledge of the facts at issue. <u>United States v. United States Gypsum Co.</u>, 438 U.S. 422, 444-45, 98 S.Ct. 2864, 57 L.Ed.2d 854 (1978), <u>United States v. Warren</u>, 612 F.2d 887 (5th Cir. 1980). <u>See also</u>, Sec. 409.920(2)(c) Fla. Stat. (1993) ("Knowingly" means done by a person who is aware of, or should be aware of the nature of his conduct and that his conduct is substantially certain to cause the intended result). Accordingly, "knowingly" as applied in this case means that the

defendant knew that the injunction had been issued and acted in contravention thereof.

#### Willfully

The United States Supreme Court defined the term "willful" as "when [willful is] used in a criminal statute it generally means an act done with a bad purpose." Screws v. United States, 395 U.S. 91, 101, 65 S.Ct. 1031, 89 L.Ed.2d 1495 (1985) (upholding the vagueness challenge to 18 U.S.C. 52). The Court stated further that willfulness requires more "than the doing of an act proscribed by statute" and that "[a]n evil motive to accomplish that which the statute condemns becomes a constituent element of the crime." Id. As to vagueness the Court held:

...the requirement of a specific intent to do a prohibited act may avoid those consequences to the accused which may otherwise render a vague or indefinite statute invalid...But where the punishment imposed is only for an act knowingly done with the purpose of doing that which the statute prohibits, the accused cannot be said to suffer from lack of warning or knowledge that the act which he does is a violation of law. The requirement that the act must be willful or purposeful may not render certain, for all purposes, a statutory definition of the crime which is in some respects uncertain. But it does relieve the statute of the objection that it punishes without warning an offense of which the accused was unaware.

Id. at 101-102.

Florida has defined "willful" similarly to the United States "Willful" means intentionally, Supreme Court's definition. knowingly and purposely. Paterson v. State, 512 So. 2d 1109 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). The Statute contains the necessary scienter element, since in all sections it punishes only that perpetrator who willfully, maliciously and repeatedly follows or harasses another person. A person of ordinary intelligence can understand that he will have violated a statute if he followed or harassed another intentionally and with a bad purpose. It is perpetrator's mental state which is the measure ofhis criminality.

The Statute requires not only that the act be intentional and with a bad purpose (maliciously). It also has to be done repeatedly. Each of these terms adds limitations to the Statute, curing any vagueness as to what conduct is prohibited.

### Maliciously

"Maliciously" is a term well-defined in criminal law. It isdefined as "wrongfully, intentionally, without legal justification or excuse, and with the knowledge that injury or damage will or may be caused to another person or the property of another person." Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) 130, 109. See also, State v. Gaylord, 356 So. 2d 313 (Fla 1978) ("maliciously" means ill will, hatred, spite, an evil intent). The term maliciously, in combination, with the term "willful", clearly

requires the perpetrator's conduct to be done intentionally, with an evil purpose and without legal justification. The terms "willfully" and "maliciously" are legal terms defined in familiar legal terms. Bradley v. United States, 410 U.S. 605, 93 S.Ct. 1151, 35 L.Ed.2d 528 (1973). As such, these terms delineate what conduct is proscribed.

#### Repeatedly

The plain and ordinary meaning of "repeatedly" can be determined by referring to a dictionary. Green v. State, 604 So. 2d 471 (Fla. 1992). "Repeated" means: "1: renewed or recurring again and again: constant, frequent." Webster's Third New International Dictionary; 1924 (1986 Ed.). Applying this definition to the term "repeatedly" further clarifies the proscribed conduct in the Statute. The perpetrator must act intentionally with an evil purpose and such act must be more than an isolated incident.

#### Harasses

The Statute in Section (1)(a) defines "harasses" as follows:

(a) "Harasses" means to engage in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that causes substantial emotional distress in such person and serves no legitimate purpose.

Petitioner challenges this statutory definition on the individual terms and not on the whole statutory definition. Petitioner

alleges that the terms "substantial emotional distress" and "no legitimate purpose" are not sufficient to prevent arbitrary enforcement.

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